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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

OF APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY DECISION

Appellants MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc., AT&T Corp., (“AT&T”), and AT&T Comcast Corporation (“AT&T Comcast”) have moved for summary decision on their appeal of the decision by the City Manager of the City of Cambridge (the “City Manager” or “Issuing Authority”) denying the appellants’ request for consent to the transfer of control of MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc., the current cable television licensee in the City of Cambridge offering services as AT&T Broadband (“AT&T Broadband” or “Licensee”).  A true and accurate copy of the Decision Regarding Cable Television Transfer Request (the “Decision”) is in the Appellants’ Appendix in Support of Appeal (“Appendix”) submitted with this motion at Exhibit A.
This motion should be granted because the appellants have demonstrated in their Form 394, their responses to the City Manager’s written requests for information, and during a public hearing that AT&T Comcast has the management experience, financial capability, technical expertise, and legal qualifications to operate the system under the existing license as required under 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1).  The Decision presents no genuine issue of material fact otherwise.  If these companies are not qualified to operate a cable television system, no one is.

The City Manager discounted and disregarded this showing based on allegations of noncompliance with the license and expressions of dissatisfaction with the service provided by AT&T Broadband.  These stated grounds are outside the criteria for transfer review established by 207 C.M.R. § 4.04 and by the Cable Division’s decisions involving the same issuing authority in MediaOne of Mass., Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of North Andover, Docket No. CTV 99-2, 99-3, 99-4, 99-5, Order on Motions For Summary Decision/Consolidation (May 1, 2000) (“MediaOne I”), and In the Matter of MediaOne of Mass., Inc. v. City Manager of the City of Cambridge, Docket No. 99-4, Interlocutory Order on Scope of the Proceeding (Sept. 1, 2000) (“MediaOne II”).  

In MediaOne I, among other issues, the Division rejected the City Manager’s denial on the basis that “AT&T has failed to make a case that the transfer, especially given its $58 billion price tag, would benefit Cambridge cable television subscribers.” MediaOne I at 33-34.  In MediaOne II, it held that the City Manager’s denial “cannot be based on [the licensee’s] alleged failure to rectify any problems existing under the License.”  MediaOne II at 5.  Some of the words of this latest decision are different but, in the final analysis, the grounds are the same as those the Division rejected already. 

Without reaching all of the grounds for appeal, therefore, the Division can rule as a matter of law that the City Manager has unreasonably and arbitrarily withheld consent to the transfer of control in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.   A summary decision for the appellants is appropriate.

UNDISPUTED FACTS

1. AT&T Broadband is the existing operator of the cable television system in the City of Cambridge pursuant to a Cable Television Renewal License dated December 30, 2000 (the “License”).  A true and accurate copy of the License is Exhibit B to the Appendix.  

2. AT&T Broadband and the Issuing Authority have an ongoing dispute as to whether a License provision for a senior citizen discount “off the price of Basic Service” applies to “Basic Service” as defined by the License and federal law, or to additional programming tiers.  Following default procedures under the License, the City Manager entered a finding of default on July 31, 2001, and the City then brought suit in Superior Court seeking a preliminary injunction to enforce its claim of breach of the senior discount provision of the License.  On November 15, 2001, the Superior Court denied the City’s request for an injunction, finding that the City “has failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits.”  A true and accurate copy of the Superior Court Clerk’s Notice is Exhibit C to the Appendix.  Discovery is going forward in the case.  

3. As of December 19, 2001, AT&T and Comcast entered into a merger agreement under which a new AT&T Broadband Corporation with all of the cable television assets of AT&T, will merge with Comcast Corporation to form AT&T Comcast Corporation.  This merger is scheduled to occur before the end of 2002.  

4. The merger – and the change of control of the licensee – is entirely at the parent-level.  AT&T Comcast will become the new controlling parent company of the current licensee, MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc.  The latter will continue to operate the cable system in Cambridge under the existing license, and the legal obligations under the existing license will remain unchanged.  

5. On March 1, 2002, AT&T, as the parent company of AT&T Broadband and transferor, and AT&T Comcast, as transferee, submitted an application to the City Manager on FCC Form 394 seeking the City Manager’s approval for the transfer of control from AT&T to AT&T Comcast.  The Form 394 was signed by Brian Roberts, President and CEO of AT&T Comcast Corporation, and by Rick Bailey, Vice President of AT&T Corp., who both certified in Section V of Form 394 that the statements in the application are “true, complete and correct” and “made in good faith.”  The Form 394, along with attachments, is on file with the Division. 

6. Section V, Part II of Form 394 also contains the certification by Brian Roberts on behalf of AT&T Comcast as transferee, that the transferee “[h]as a current copy of the franchise that is the subject of this application, and of any applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations,” and “[w]ill use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as possible, in the operation of the system, if any changes are necessary to cure any violations thereof or defaults there under presently in effect or ongoing.”  

7. On March 22, 2002, the City Manager sent AT&T Comcast an initial request for information.  AT&T Comcast responded to this request by a letter dated April 3, 2002.  True and accurate copies of the March 22, 2002 letter and April 3, 2002 response are respectively Exhibit I and II to the Decision. (Appendix, Exhibit A-I, A-II).  

8. The City Manager held a public hearing on the request for transfer of control application on April 30, 2002.  A true and accurate copy of the transcript of the April 30, 2002 public hearing (“Public Hearing Tr.”) is in the Appendix at Exhibit D.

9. By another letter dated May 2, 2002, the City Manager (by Corporation Counsel), issued in writing questions raised at the April 30, 2002 public hearing.  The applicants responded to this request by letter dated May 16, 2002.  True and accurate copies of this supplemental request for information and AT&T Comcast’s responses are respectively Exhibits III and IV to the Decision (Appendix, Exhibit A-III- IV).


AT&T Comcast’s Legal Qualifications.

10. AT&T Comcast will be the ultimate parent company of the franchisee.  The Form 394 showed that it is duly incorporated in Pennsylvania.  The current licensee, MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc., will remain in place and continue to hold all necessary licenses and authorizations to provide cable service in Massachusetts.  Exhibit 4 to Form 394.  MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc. is duly qualified to do business in Massachusetts.  Id.   

11. AT&T Comcast also certified in its Form 394 that it will “use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordinances and related regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as practicable, in the operation of the system, if any changes are necessary to cure any violations thereof or defaults presently in effect or ongoing.”  Form 394, Section V, part II (c). 

12. AT&T Comcast affirmed again at the April 30, 2002 public hearing that  “the license holder will continue to adhere to all lawful existing federal, state and local requirements ” and “AT&T/Comcast will assume the liabilities and obligations under the license.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 8-10 (Exhibit D). 

13. AT&T Comcast reiterated this commitment in its responses to written questions several times in several ways.  May 16, 2002 Letter (Exhibit A-IV) at 3 (“Licensee will continue to be bound by its current customer service obligations under the franchise and applicable law in the same manner as before the merger”); id. at 8 (“The terms of [the Cambridge] franchise remain unchanged and the existing financial commitments to the City will remain unchanged post-merger”); id. at 10 (“the lawfulness and enforceability of those [franchise] provision is [sic] in no way affected by the merger”); id. at 11 (“MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc.’s assets and liability to comply with the franchise will not be affected by the merger”); id. at 14-15 (“No changes to the current practices of the Licensee in the franchise areas are required by the Merger Agreement”); id. at 15 (“MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc. will continue to be the franchise holder and all existing liabilities and obligations will continue to be held by MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc.”); id. at 16 (“the Licensee will continue to hold and abide by the franchise after the close of the merger”).


AT&T Comcast’s Financial Capability.

14. AT&T Comcast has certified in the Form 394 “that it has sufficient net liquid assets on hand or available from committed resources to consummate the transaction and operate the facilities for three months.”  Form 394, Section III, Question 1.

15. In addition, AT&T Comcast attached as exhibits to the Form 394 (a) the pro forma Financial Statement/Prospectus for AT&T Comcast filed with the SEC on February 11, 2002; (b) AT&T Comcast’s audited Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001 for each of AT&T Corp. and Comcast Corporation; and (c) the audited Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 for each of AT&T Corp. and Comcast Corporation.  Pro Forma Financial Statements at Exhibit 9 of Form 394; Form 10-Q and Form 10-K included in CD-ROM attached to Exhibit 2 of Form 394.

16. In its information request responses, the applicant also provided the SEC Forms 10-Q for both AT&T and Comcast for the first quarter of 2002 as requested by the Issuing Authority, the Internet website where the most recent amendments of the pro forma financial statements were available, and an explanation of the combined financial strength of AT&T Comcast entitled “Financing Considerations.”  May 16, 2002 letter response from AT&T Comcast at 6-7, ¶¶ 13, 14A (Exhibit A-IV & A-IV-1). 

17. AT&T Comcast will have total assets of approximately $141 billion, annual revenues of approximately $18 billion, and annual EBITDA of approximately $4.6 billion.  Public Hearing Tr. at 22; May 16, 2002 letter response from AT&T Comcast at 6-7, ¶¶ 13, 14A (Exhibit A-IV & A-IV-1).  With the addition of Comcast’s “significantly stronger balance sheet,” AT&T Comcast will have a combined debt to operating cash flow ratio of less than 5:1, compared to 8:1 for AT&T Broadband.  Public Hearing Tr. at 23; (Exhibit D), May 16, 2002 letter response from AT&T Comcast at 7, ¶ 14 (Exhibit A-IV& A-IV-1).

18. AT&T Comcast estimates that the merger will improve the financial strength of both companies through synergies and efficiencies worth approximately $1.25 to $1.95 billion a year in increased Earning Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA), including savings from reduced overhead, improved operating margins, reduced programming costs, and other synergies and economies of scale.  This efficiency is expected to enhance the ability of the combined companies to make capital investments in cable upgrades and improved services. May 16, 2002 letter response from AT&T Comcast at 8, ¶ 16 & attached Public Interest Statement filed jointly by AT&T and Comcast with the Federal Communications Commission (Exhibit A-IV-2).
  In short, the applicants showed bringing Comcast into the picture will improve the parent company’s financial position.


AT&T Comcast’s Managerial Experience. 
19. Together, AT&T and Comcast bring over 60 years of combined experience and expertise in the cable industry to AT&T Comcast.  Exhibit 10 to Form 394.

20. AT&T Comcast explained that there will be twelve members of its board of directors, three of whom have already been chosen, and the remainder of whom will be chosen in accordance with Section 9.08 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, a copy of which was attached to Exhibit 2 to Form 394 in CD ROM format.  Under this agreement, the initial board will consist of five members chosen by Comcast, five chosen by AT&T, and the remaining two will be independent members chosen by AT&T and Comcast jointly.  

21. Brian Roberts, President of Comcast, will be President and CEO of AT&T Comcast with day-to-day authority over the operation of the business.  He will be responsible for selecting the management team.  Id. at Question 4E; Exhibit 10 to Form 394.  

22. The Public Interest Statement provided additional background on Comcast, including its history and its selection as “Operator of the Year” by Cablevision Magazine in 2000.  Public Interest Statement at 9-16 (Exhibit A-IV-2).  AT&T Comcast also provided a list of local franchising authorities served by Comcast that the City Manager could contact as references.  May 16, 2002 letter response from AT&T Comcast at 16, ¶ 22 (Exhibit A-IV).  


AT&T Comcast’s Technical Expertise.
23.  Taken together, AT&T and Comcast have been responsible for the construction, upgrade, and maintenance of over 432,000 miles of fiber optic and coaxial networks in the United States.  Public Hearing Tr. at 24 (Exhibit D).  Both companies have completed cable system upgrades over the vast majority of this plant.  Over 95% of Comcast’s customers are served by systems with a capacity of at least 550 MHz, and over 80% are served by systems with a capacity of at least 750 MHz.  As of December 31, 2001, 76% of AT&T Broadband’s plant nationwide had been upgraded to at least 550 MHz, and 59% to at least 750 MHz.  FCC Public Interest Statement, at 15, 23 (Exhibit A-IV-2).
24. The upgraded networks that will belong to AT&T Comcast provide high reliability ratings.  The AT&T Broadband systems in the Northeast Region have a reliability rating of 99.99%.  The Northeast Region of AT&T Broadband is a technical pioneer in introducing services such as high speed Internet access via cable modems, and residential telephone service.  Public Hearing Tr. at 24-25 (Exhibit D).  

The City Manager’s Decisionmaking Process.
25. The City Manager’s review of the transfer application included issues of compliance with the existing license.  The City Manager’s March 22, 2002 first request for information stated: “your application fails to accurately address outstanding issues of non-compliance by the transferee sufficient for me to determine whether or not the transferee will administer the Renewal License in full compliance with its terms.”  The May 2, 2002 written questions culminated in a request for “a written opinion of counsel that the company is in compliance with and can continue to be in compliance with all material obligations under the Cambridge cable television Renewal License Agreement.”    Public Hearing Tr. at 71-72 (Exhibit D); May 2, 2002 Letter, City Manager’s Questions at 3 (Exhibit A-III).

26. The City Manager’s requests for information also asked for numerous commitments not included in the License:

a) Would AT&T Comcast “agree to provide Standard Cable (formerly Total Basic) and Expanded Basic (formerly Basic2) services for the next five years without need for additional or upgraded hardware?” Public Hearing Tr.. at 2 (question 8) (Exhibit D).

b) If AT&T Comcast would not agree to the previous request, would it “agree to provide [the same tiers] for the next five years to fixed income, senior citizens at no increase over the present costs for a converter and wireless ‘clicker’? “ Id. (question 9).

c) Would AT&T Comcast “agree to limit subscriber rate increases for cable, internet, and digital telephone service to not more than 5% annually during the next five years?  Why not? Will the company commit to any rate increase limit?”  Id. at 3 (question 17).

d) Would AT&T Comcast “agree to limit subscriber rate increases” for specific tiers of programming  “to not more than 5% annually during the next five year?  Why not?  Will the merged company  agree to any rate increase limit?”  Id. (question 18).

e) Would AT&T Comcast “agree to a 10% subscriber rate discount” on these tiers for fixed income senior citizens? “Why Not? Will the company agree to any rate increase limit?”  Id. (question 19).

f)    In a proposed class action settlement submitted for approval to a federal district court in Georgia, would AT&T Broadband or AT&T Comcast agree “[a]s an alternative … to provide settlement payments or service credits directly to eligible Cambridge subscribers” without the class member notification called for in the settlement agreement?  Or would they “agree to pay the City directly for all Cambridge subscribers who fail to claim settlement payments or credits?”   Id. at 4 (questions 23 and 24).

Although noting that most of the information requested by the Issuing Authority’s written questions is not related to the qualifications of AT&T Comcast, the applicants responded “to provide as much information as is reasonably possible.”  May 16, 2002 letter response at 1 n.1 (Exhibit A-IV)

27. Two members of the Cambridge City Council testified at the April 30, 2002 hearing.  Mayor Michael Sullivan urged “to the extent that AT&T is looking for something, I don’t believe we should grant it.”  Public Hearing Tr. at 5 (Exhibit D).  City Councilor Brian Murphy told the City Manager, “I would urge you to use everything in your power to prevent this merger from going forward.”  Id. at  30.

28. The public hearing also heard from Mark Cooper of The Consumers’ Federation of America Union (with whom the City Manager consulted on his November, 2002 denial decision involving the AT&T/MediaOne transfer), a member of the Cambridge Consumer Advisory Commission, and others concerning “open access” (id. at 9); price increases, including the decrease in basic of cable prices following the addition of NESN to basic cable and high speed Internet access prices (id. at 32-34); system upgrades (id. at 49); “arrogance” and fee-on-fee franchise fees pass-throughs (id. at 60); quality of cable modem service (id. at 61); and “frustration” with customer service (id. at 63).  The Director of Operations for Cambridge Community Television closed the testimony by asking “[i]s this a good deal for Cambridge?” (id. at 65).

29. The City Manager issued his written decision stating the reasons for his denial on June 28, 2002.  Decision (Exhibit A).  

ARGUMENT


An issuing authority’s consent to a transfer of control “shall not be arbitrarily or unreasonably withheld.” G.L. c.166A, §7.  The Division has interpreted the statute by defining in 207 C.M.R. §4.04 the four criteria that an Issuing Authority may consider as well as factors it may not consider.
  Withholding consent based on such factors or other grounds outside those four criteria is – as a matter of law – unreasonable and arbitrary in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.  See MediaOne I at 33 (withholding consent based on considerations outside the scope of 207 C.M.R. §4.04 was “as a matter of law” arbitrary and unreasonable under G.L. c. 166A, §7).  


Despite the Division’s decisions involving the same Issuing Authority just two years ago, the decisionmaking process in Cambridge and the City Manager’s Decision flagrantly disregard these standards.  Accordingly, as a matter of law approval of the transfer application was arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld.

I.
THERE IS NO GENUINE DISPUTE THAT AT&T COMCAST SATISFIES THE FOUR CRITERIA OF 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1). 


  As the Division has repeatedly summarized the focus of these four criteria, it is to ensure that the transferee is “fully qualified” to operate under the existing franchise.  MediaOne II at 4; MediaOne I at 15, 28, 36.  In making this determination, “the underlying concern is providing the issuing authority an opportunity to determine whether the transferee can assume the obligations of the transferor and continue the level of service provided by the transferor” and thereby “‘step into the shoes’ of the transferor.”  Bay Shore Cable TV Assocs. v. Weymouth, CATV Docket No. A-55 (1985) at 3; accord, In Re Amendment of 207 C.M.R. 4.01-4.06, CATV Docket No. R-24, Report and Order (Nov. 27, 1995)(“1995 Rulemaking”) at 17, 18.  In Form 394, in responses to the City Manager’s requests for information, and at the April 10, 2002 public hearing, AT&T Comcast demonstrated that it is “fully qualified” to step into the shoes of AT&T as the corporate parent of the Licensee.  


Form 394 was created “with the expectation that the information required by the form would establish the legal, technical, and financial qualifications of the proposed transferee or assignee.”
  In eliminating use of its own Form 100 for transfers and relying exclusively on Form 394 instead, the Division found that the FCC form supplies enough information to evaluate the four criteria under 207 C.M.R. § 4.04.  1995 Rulemaking at 10-11.  AT&T Comcast’s Form 394 and the additional information supplied in response to the issuing authority’s requests thus presumptively establish the qualifications of AT&T Comcast.  


In applying the licensing standards from which 394 was derived,
/ the FCC has found a license applicant’s qualifications “evidenced by its well-documented experience and that of its predecessors in establishing and operating a satellite system . . . [and] the Commission’s prior determinations that the applicant was legally qualified.”  In The Matter of PanAmSat Licensee Corporation Application, DA 02-1287, Order and Authorization, 2002 WL 1065928, ¶ 6 2002).  As the number one and number three cable operators in the nation, AT&T Broadband and Comcast have “well-documented experience” and have been found qualified to operate cable systems hundreds of times.  They are no less qualified to operate in Cambridge.

A.
Legal Ability.


AT&T Comcast demonstrated that it is duly incorporated and that the licensee is qualified to do business in Massachusetts.  It certified that it would be bound by the terms of the existing License.  Form 394, Section V, Part II(c) and Exhibit 4.  It repeated that affirmation at every opportunity at the hearing in response to information requests.


This legal power to bind itself to the existing license is the essential element called for in Part I, Section I, Questions 1 and 3 of Form 394.  It shows legal ability to comply with the license by providing “evidence of any license obligations that it has to assume upon completion of the transfer.”  MediaOne II at 5.  This is consistent with the showing of legal qualifications that the FCC requires of its licensees in the standards on which Form 394 is based.  See, e.g., In The Matter of Application of Space Data International LLC, 16 FCC Rcd 9266, ¶ 9 (May, 2001)(applicant is legally qualified because it submitted relevant FCC form showing that it has never been convicted of a felony, is controlled exclusively by U.S. citizens, and does not propose to provide common carrier service).  The License itself reflects similar standards in the representations and warranties it requires of the Licensee.
  Form 394 and the applicant’s other submissions establish that AT&T Comcast can make such representations and warranties.


Questions 4 and 5 in the same Form 394 section on legal qualifications ask information about adverse findings that include decisions or revocation of franchises.  Under FCC licensing standards, any such adverse findings must amount to “misconduct,” such as commission of a felony, so as to amount to a legal disqualification from holding a license.
  See also Continental Cablevision of Massachusetts, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of Danvers, CATV Docket No. A-29, Decision at 11 (Nov. 29, 1983) (applicant for initial license ineligible due to complicity in bribery attempt); Inland Bay Cable TV Associates, CATV Docket No. A-16, Decision at 5 (Sept. 4, 1981)(ineligible due to material misrepresentation on application); Teleprompter of Weymouth, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of The Town of Weymouth, CTAV Docket A-14, Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion to Dismiss at 5-6 (May 4,1981) (ineligible due to conflict with cross-ownership rules).  Nothing in the record of decision or the City Manager’s decision itself reflects any basis for legal disqualification.    

Instead, the City Manager alleges AT&T Broadband’s noncompliance with certain license terms and concludes on this basis that AT&T Comcast lacks the legal “ability” to comply with the License.  Decision at 4.  This is precisely the argument rejected in MediaOne II.   As in that case, the City Manager “does not argue that [AT&T Comcast] is unable to comply with the existing License, but speculates that it will not comply.  [The City Manager’s] arguments focus more on the likelihood than the ability of [AT&T Comcast] to comply with the license terms.”  MediaOne II at 4 (emphasis supplied).  Word-for-word, the City Manager’s finding that AT&T Comcast “is not likely to adhere to the terms and conditions of the Renewal License, as required” (Denial at 5) is identical to his finding on this issue in 2000.  See Decision Regarding the Cable Television Transfer Request at 3 (Nov. 10, 1999) (Exhibit E).


The City Manager’s reasons have nothing to do with AT&T Comcast’s corporate authority, its legal qualifications to do business, or its legal qualifications (or disqualifications) to hold a cable license.  Thus, there is no genuine issue of fact about AT&T Comcast’s legal ability to comply with the License as the parent of MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc.  


B.
Managerial And Technical Ability.




AT&T Comcast documented its managerial experience and technical expertise by showing, among other things, the 60 years of combined experience and expertise in the cable industry that AT&T and Comcast bring to the merged company; the experience of the named directors, including Brian Roberts, who will President and CEO; and the hundreds of thousands of miles of high bandwidth, advanced network plant each has currently deployed (not to speak of the additional plant constructed and maintained over the preceding 30 years), allowing them to be technical pioneers in the delivery of cable services.
  Comcast, too, brings to the merger “well-documented experience,” as to which there can be no serious dispute.  PanAmSat Application, supra,  ¶ 6.


The appellants supplied ample information concerning Comcast – its 10K and 10Q statements, references to other local franchising authorities, and the FCC Public Interest Statement, among other things.  This is the kind of reasonable “forward looking” showing from which to project the capabilities of the merged corporation to step into the shoes of AT&T that the Cable Division has held an applicant may use to demonstrate managerial experience and technical expertise.  See MediaOne II at 5.  The City Manager’s decision focuses exclusively on AT&T Broadband, and simply sidesteps Comcast and its experience, or that of Brian Roberts as President and CEO of AT&T Comcast with day-to-day authority over its operations.  If the City Manager can look at AT&T Broadband’s history, he can and must look at Comcast’s as well.

Instead, the City Manager refused to entertain any “forward-looking presentations” by finding that AT&T Comcast “has not yet obtained all necessary approvals in order for the company to go forward and start operating its thousands of cable systems in the country” and “is a company that exists on paper only; it has no history in and of itself.”   Decision at 3.  See also id. at 5 (“does not exist …[;]  Pro Formas based only upon … on historical past performance not that of the Transferee[;] … has no financial history of its own[;] … has not received a number of necessary approvals from federal agencies”).

This is pure Catch-22 reasoning.  The City Manager demanded more evidence than AT&T Comcast reasonably can provide.  Where a merger (as opposed to an acquisition) is involved, AT&T Comcast itself cannot have a “history.”  By the City Manager’s standard, no approval ever would be possible for such a merger.  Yet such mergers are a fact in interstate commerce and public markets, as the history of cable television in Massachusetts reflects: Warner Cable and American Express merged into Warner-Amex, then Warner Cable and Time Inc. into Time Warner, and Time Warner and America Online into AOL Time Warner.  Each of these merged companies began as a “paper company” with no “track record.”  Like them, AT&T Comcast can be judged on a forward-looking basis by looking at both of the merging companies (and not just AT&T).

Moreover, until federal approvals are received, AT&T and Comcast are restricted in their ability to make operating plans for AT&T Comcast.  The merger is subject to Section 7A of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §18A, commonly known as Title II of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvement Act of 1976.  This provision not only prohibits consummation of certain transactions until a waiting period has expired, but also prohibits taking steps to integrate the merging companies.
  The clearance process has not been completed.  The merger also depends on FCC approval, which has not yet been granted (and in all likelihood has never has before local franchising authority approvals in any transaction in memory).
  Nothing in federal law, Chapter 166A, the Division’s regulations, Form 394, or the License makes local authority to operate a cable system contingent on FCC licenses or any other federal approvals. The City Manager’s complaint that the merger has not closed essentially faults AT&T Comcast for following federal law, and for not consummating the merger before necessary approvals have taken place (including the City Manager’s own!).  Catch-22.

By demanding information AT&T Comcast cannot supply, the City Manager exceeds the limits of Section 617 of the 1992 Cable Act as amended.  Under this provision and FCC regulations applying it, a transfer applicant can be called on to supply information “reasonably requested” by the franchising authority.  47 C.F.R. § 76.502(a) (emphasis added).  By corollary, the applicant need not respond to unreasonable information requests, and a franchising authority violates Section 617 if it denies the application because it does not have information unreasonably requested.  Charter Communications, Inc. v. County of Santa Cruz, 133 F. Supp. 2d 1184, 1208-09 (N.D.Cal. 2001).  That is what the Cambridge City Manager has done in his decision.

C.
Financial Ability.

The City Manager applied the same Catch-22 in his review of AT&T Comcast’s financial qualifications to step in as parent corporation.  For the reasons discussed above, no historical data was possible for a company that was not authorized to consummate its merger.  The information supplied about AT&T and Comcast was a reasonable, appropriate, and necessary way of making a “reasonable forward-looking presentation” about the financial qualifications of AT&T Comcast.  The conclusion that “[n]o information has been provided on the Transferee’s financial capability ...” (Decision at 4), is completely baseless.  In fact the pro forma financial statements supplied with Form 394 present the balance sheet of AT&T Comcast.  

To the extent that the City Manager voiced concern that these pro formas were unaudited, the pro formas satisfied the requirements of the SEC for proxy statements by public companies and were relied on by Fitch Ratings on establishing an investment grade credit rating for AT&T Comcast debt.  See “Financing Considerations” attached to May 16, 2002 letter response (Exhibit A-IV-I).  As required, AT&T Comcast certified that it has sufficient net liquid assets to consummate the merger and operate the cable system for three months and submitted one year’s financial statements of the merging companies.  Form 394, Section III.  Nothing in the City Manager’s Decision concretely calls into question this certification.  Form 394 does not require projections, and none of the requests for information did the City Manager ask for financial projections.  In any event, “[i]n a transaction where the threshold issues of financial, legal and technical qualifications were established, it was unreasonable to launch a sweeping inquisition . . ..”   Santa Cruz, supra¸ 133 F.Supp. 2d at 1211

The City Manager’s supposed concern about capital commitments and their impact on Cambridge (Decision at 5) is nothing but a makeweight irrelevant to performance obligations under the existing license.  Anything requiring major capital commitments in Cambridge has been performed already: no upgrade is required, License Section 3.1 (Exhibit B) (“continue” to maintain “existing 750 MHz Subscriber Network”); the I-Net was “existing” and to remain in place only through 2001, id. Section 5.2; the system already is interconnected with Somerville, id. Section 3.3 (“continue to interconnect”); the headend is in the city, id. Section 6.5 (maintain and operate “existing links”); and all PEG capital grants were made in 2001, id. Section 6.6.  There is no reasonable basis to expect capital commitments to the affect performance of the existing license.  Pro formas and financial statements demonstrate more than enough to meet these and other obligations of the Cambridge License. 

The City Manager concluded that AT&T Comcast lacks the requisite financial qualifications because of an unspecified “tremendous debt load” being incurred by AT&T Comcast.  Decision at 4.  In fact, the record shows that AT&T Comcast expects a combined debt to operating cash flow of less than 5:1, significantly better than AT&T’s 8:1 and one of the strongest ratios in the industry.  Public Hearing Tr. at 23 (Exhibit D); “Financing Considerations” attached to May 16 letter response (Exhibit A-IV-1).  The merger will produce synergies and cost reductions that will lower AT&T Comcast’s debt and result in increased earning of almost $2 billion per year.  Public Interest Statement attached to id. (Exhibit A-IV-2).  Based on the pro forma financial statements, AT&T Comcast senior unsecured debt received an investment grade BBB rating from Fitch Ratings, stronger than that AT&T and most other large cable MSOs.  “Financing Considerations” attached to May 16, 2002 letter response (Exhibit A-IV-1).  The City Manager’s disregards a central point of the merger: it is a stock-for-stock transaction without debt financing, designed to de-leverage AT&T’s balance sheet.  The City Manager’s “decision making was essentially speculative and not adequately supported by facts.”  Rollins Cablevision of Southeast Massachusetts, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of The Town of Somerset, CATV Docket A-64, Decision at 5 (June 10, 1988); see id. at 9. 


AT&T Comcast has shown its ability to “step into the shoes” of the current license holder and fulfill the existing franchise obligations.  Nothing in the City Manager’s Decision genuinely disputes AT&T’s specific showings in support of its Form 394 that prove its qualifications under the applicable criteria in 207 C.M.R. §4.04.  MediaOne I at 10-11.  “[T]he mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no genuine issue of material fact.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986) (emphasis added).  The City Manager cannot “respond and allege specific facts which would establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in order to defeat [AT&T Comcast’s] motion for summary judgment.”  Instead, the City Manager’s Decision raises disputes on collateral matters outside the scope of the four criteria of 207 C.M.R. § 4.04.  As a matter of law, the City Manager’s withholding of consent was arbitrary and unreasonable.  See MediaOne I at 33. 

II.
THE CITY MANAGER’S DENIAL TURNED IMPROPERLY ON FACTORS OUTSIDE THE FOUR CRITERIA AND THE DIVISION’S PRIOR DECISIONS.


A.
The City Manager’s Decision Depends On Compliance Issues.

The Cable Division has held firmly that compliance with the terms of the License is not among the four criteria set forth in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1) and “the issue of whether or not [the transferor] has complied with its license obligations is not relevant” to a transfer proceeding.  MediaOne II at 5.  Denial “cannot be based on [its] alleged failure to rectify any problems existing under the License.” Id.  The Division specifically reiterated this position in the context of the AT&T Comcast application, stating although a noncompliance issue may be “discussed,” an issuing authority “may not refuse a transfer based on a breach or noncompliance issue with the transferee, in this case AT&T [Comcast].  Any breach proceeding must be separate from the transfer proceeding.”  Letter from Alicia C. Matthews, Director to Thomas P. McCusker, Westwood Town Counsel, at 1 (April 2, 2002)( Exhibit F). Despite the prior rulings on an identical finding by this same Issuing Authority, allegations of AT&T Broadband’s noncompliance with the terms of the License underlie the City Manager’s Decision.

Although AT&T Comcast “is not obligated to provide solutions to alleged non-compliance issues imported in to the transfer process from the ongoing license renewal process,” MediaOne II at 4, the City Manager demanded that AT&T Comcast provide an opinion of counsel that the company is in compliance with the License.  The Decision begins with the allegation of “willful misrepresentation of the Senior Discount, which constitutes a breach of the Renewal License” (Decision at 3) and ends with the finding that “AT&T Broadband has not complied with a number of legal requirements of the Renewal License, including, but not limited to, subscriber rights and consumer protection, quality of service, subscriber complaint response, telephone access, senior discount” (id. at 5).  

The Division has recognized that “[t]he transfer process is not designed to resolve compliance issues that may have arisen at any point during the license term.”  MediaOne II at 3.   Rather, they should be resolved as part of the renewal, amendment or revocation process under 207 C.M.R. §§3.05-3.07, 3.09; G.L. c. 166A, §§ 11, 13, 14, which afford more time and due process.  Id.  The Cambridge License itself is a recent renewal in which the City has driven a hard bargain; not only does include provisions such as direct payment to the City (over and above 5% of gross annual revenues for PEG access support and statutory franchise fees) of $150,000 annually that AT&T Broadband is not to externalize or itemize, it also The License provides a three-step process for written notice of alleged breaches, an opportunity to respond and cure the breach and, if necessary, a public hearing with an opportunity to offer evidence and be heard, and a written determination.  Cable Television Renewal License, Section 11.1 (Exhibit B).  The license also contains a double right to inspect and test the system (Sections 4.11 and 10.6) plus the right to request information to establish the Licensee’s compliance with its obligations (Section 15.11), the statutorily-required performance bond (Section 9.2), annual performance evaluation hearings (Section 10.2), liquidated damages for violations including customer service obligations (Section 11.2), revocation (Section 11.3 and G.L. c.166A, § 11), the right to require telephone “busy studies” (Section 12.2), email referral of complaint to the city (Section 12.8), and prompt License reporting all individual complaints (Section 13.7), a specific signal quality remedy (Section 12.9), submission of in-house telephone reports (Section 13.4), semi-annual engineering proofs of performance with a right to conduct the Issuing Authority’s occur testing of (Section 13.9).  

The License thus has multiple and redundant enforcement mechanisms.  Moreover, franchise renewal explicitly provides an opportunity to consider whether the Licensee has complied with license and applicable law, provided that there is notice and an opportunity to cure.  See 47 U.S.C. §546(c)(1)(A),(d). The City Manager cannot end-run the judicial process or due process under the License and applicable law by basing denial of a transfer on unsubstantiated, conclusory “findings” of noncompliance in decision.


Although the Decision states that “these matters” have been the subject of notices of breach and a letter of default (Decision at 5), in fact breach proceedings involved only the senior discount.  With the exception of the latter issue, none of the City Manager’s allegations of noncompliance has been the subject of any such processes.  The senior discount issue in turn is the subject of ongoing litigation in which the court has found the City Manager is unlikely to succeed.  (Appendix, Exhibit C).  These allegations and ongoing disputes cannot be resolved in this transfer process, because the Cable Division “will not conduct a fact finding process to determine whether or not actual non-compliance existed” when the transfer application was denied.  MediaOne II at 5.  Regardless of the Issuing Authority’s claim that it raises these issues “not as a non-compliance matter” (Decision at 15), inextricably they do depend on noncompliance allegations.  To resolve these issues would require just such the kind of fact finding expedition the Decision rejected as part of transfer review.  By injecting these issues into the transfer process, the City Manager therefore has acted outside the Division’s transfer regulation and decision in MediaOne II. 


B.
The City Manager Improperly Required Assurances Of Benefits To The City.  


 Much of the Decision reduces to the complaint that, under AT&T Comcast, things will remain the same.  Continuity may be a source of dissatisfaction, but it is not proper grounds to withhold consent for a transfer.  


At the bedrock of the Decision is the repeated finding that AT&T Broadband has “inadequate” management, based on complaints from consumers and at the hearing, and the City Manager’s opinion as to customer dissatisfaction and the company’s management.  Based on this, and the continuity of MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc., the City Manager concludes that AT&T Comcast will “experience the same inadequate management.”  Decision at 3-4 (emphasis added).  On this basis, the City Manager concludes, “there is certainly no reason to believe that AT&T Comcast, a company that will have a great many more subscribers and a different and larger infrastructure, will do any better.”  Decision at 3.


This demand to change operations and do “better” treads the same ground as the City Manager’s finding in 2000 that “AT&T has failed to make the case that the transfer, especially given its $58 billion price tag, would benefit Cambridge cable television subscribers.” MediaOne I at 33.  In rejecting denial on this ground, the Division reasoned that requiring additional benefits to subscribers improperly “attempts to re-define the standard of review with respect to cable license transfers” beyond the relevant factors set forth in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(1).  MediaOne I at 34.  In its 1995 rulemaking on transfer regulations, the Cable Television Commission expressly dropped from the amended regulations the requirement that an approval of a transfer request list the “specific benefits” to the community of the transfer.  1995 Rulemaking at 16.  The Commission was concerned that some might interpret the language “to mean that some ‘additional benefit’ must be extracted from the cable operator in exchange for the consent to the transfer application.”  Id.  Thus, a franchising authority “may not deny a transfer application based on the transfer applicant’s failure to demonstrate how it will improve cable services . . . .”  MediaOne I at 34.  That is precisely what the City Manager has done by requiring that AT&T Comcast demonstrate how it will “do any better.”


The Division also should not ignore that review of the application focused primarily on matters outside the existing license and the four criteria.  15 of the City Manager’s 24 own written questions and (giving benefit of doubt to the Issuing Authority) at least 16 of the 27 “CCTV questions” included in the Issuing Authority’s information requests sought commitments, not included in the License or information unrelated to qualifications.  Despite the number of times the Division has repeated the well-established policy embodied in 207 C.M.R. §4.04(2), the Issuing Authority attempted to use this transfer process as leverage to extract concessions.  Cf.  Santa Cruz, supra, 133 F. Supp. 2d at 1201 (“to deny consent merely for refusing to pay unlawful fees or for refusing acquiesce in an unlawful rate freeze would be unreasonable”).


The “underlying concern” of the four criteria in 207 C.M.R. § 4.04(1) is to establish “whether the transferee can ‘step into the shoes of the transferor.’”  1995 Rulemaking at 17-18.  The City Manager’s focus on issues of license “non-compliance,” complaints about the “quality” or decisions of AT&T Broadband management, and questions about how AT&T Comcast will do “better” are out of place.  Differences over interpretation of License provisions and opinions that “[m]anagement is about how well services are delivered to subscribers, not about how many services are delivered” (Denial at 4), address management decisions – not ability – and quality of management – not qualifications.


The question before the City Manager was the qualifications of AT&T Comcast to step into the shoes of AT&T as parent of MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc.  The City Manager evidently does not like the fit or the look of those shoes.  But – compliant or not, adequate or not, popular or not – they are the shoes AT&T Comcast steps into, taking the License and the compliance record as it finds them.  If the transfer produces the “same management” then, for better or worse, AT&T Comcast steps into the shoes of AT&T and can “continue the level of service provided by the transferor.”  Bay Shore, supra, at 3.


The transfer review process “reflects a protective intent: to ensure that a transferee . . . is nonetheless fully qualified to fulfill the existing franchise obligations.”  MediaOne II at 4.  The transfer review process simply protects against transferees who are so unqualified that they cannot step into the shoes of the existing licensee.  Unlike in its grant of an initial license, “the issuing authority’s discretion in approving or disapproving a license transfer is … more circumscribed.”  Teleprompter of Weymouth, supra, at 5 (CATV Commission, May 4, 1981).

The issues raised in the City Manager’s decision fall far short of demonstrating that the existing Licensee as well as Comcast and AT&T Comcast are not qualified to operate a cable system under the existing License.  Even if these issues have some basis in meaningful customer dissatisfaction, like issues of license compliance, they are better addressed through the many remedies of the franchising process.

III.
FEDERAL LAW PREEMPTS THE ISSUING AUTHORITY’S DECISION BECAUSE IT IS INCONSISTENT WITH SECTIONS 617 AND 626.


In distinguishing between the franchising process and the transfer process in MediaOne I and MediaOne II, the Division recognized that certain issues are incompatible with the requirement of Section 617 of the Cable Act to complete a transfer decision in 120 days.  Thus, the Division recognized that establishing compliance or noncompliance with the License does not fit this timetable.  That is particularly so in this case, where the License requires notice of noncompliance, followed by at least 30 days to respond and to cure any noncompliance, and then by hearing before the Issuing Authority can make any final determination on its part.  


Under these circumstances, demanding that AT&T Broadband respond to allegations of noncompliance with the License is a form of unreasonable information request in violation of Section 617.  See Santa Cruz, supra.  It requires resolution of the issues involved faster than they can be resolved consistent with the License.  Moreover, denying consent because AT&T has not acquiesced on these issues and given up its rights under the License is unreasonable.  See id., 133 F. Supp. 2d at 1201.


The Division specifically cited Section 626 of the Cable Act in recognizing the unsuitability of the transfer process to address franchise issues.  MediaOne II at 3.  Ascertainment hearings under Section 626(a) provide an opportunity to review “the performance of the operator under the franchise as well as future cable-related community need and interests. 47 U.S.C. § 546(a)(1).  The standards for denial include “whether the operator has substantially complied with the material terms of the existing franchise and with applicable law,” as well as well whether “the quality of the operator’s service, including signal quality, response to consumer complaints, and billing practices . . . has been reasonable in light of community needs.”  Id. § 546 (c)(1)(A), (B).  These provisions anticipate a process spread over as much as three years, affording an opportunity to consider the full record; the due process protections of Section 626 (c) and (d) afford the cable operator an opportunity to demonstrate whether its compliance has been “substantial” and alleged noncompliance involves “material” franchise terms.  


The Board’s denial sweeps all this aside.  On renewal, “[t]he Cable Act requires a [franchising authority] to analyze the operator’s renewal proposal on a case by case basis,” and when a town attempts to freeze this individualized process, it acts inconsistently with the Cable Act.  Time Warner Entertainment Co., L.P. v. Briggs, No. 92-40117-GN, 1993 WL 23710 at *3 (D. Mass. Jan. 14, 1993).  The Issuing Authority’s action is inconsistent with Section 626 because it substitutes the City Manager’s summary, unilateral edict for the full give-and-take anticipated under Section 626.


The Cable Act preempts any action by a franchising authority inconsistent with the Act.  47 U.S.C. § 556 (c).  Because the grounds of the City Manager’s denial decision are inconsistent with the processes and timetables under Sections 617 and 626, it is preempted.

CONCLUSION 


The pleadings and filings conclusively show that no genuine issue of material fact exists and AT&T Comcast is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  See Belmont Cable Assocs. v. Board of Selectmen of the Town of Belmont, CATV Docket No. A-65, Decision at 3 (Aug. 18, 1988).  Stripped of its improper grounds outside the scope of the review standards in 207 C.M.R. §4.04, the City Manager’s Decision lacks any basis.  The City Manager has unreasonably and arbitrarily withheld its consent in violation of G.L. c. 166A, §7.


The appellants therefore respectfully request that the Division issue a summary decision disapproving the decision by the City Manager to deny the appellants’ March 1, 2002 transfer application, and order the City Manager to grant such application.








Respectfully submitted,

Cameron F. Kerry BBO# 269660

Daniel B. Trinkle BBO# 632904

Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris,
Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.

One Financial Center
Boston, Massachusetts  02111
(617) 542-6000


Attorneys for MediaOne of Massachusetts, Inc, offering services as AT&T Broadband, AT&T Corp., and

AT&T Comcast Corporation

Dated:  July 25, 2002


LIT 1347208v1








� As attached to the Issuing Authority’s Decision, this document omits even-numbered pages through page 96.  The appellants have included the complete document in the Appendix.


� 207 C.M.R. § 4.04 provides:


(1) In reviewing an application for a transfer or assignment of a license or control thereof, an issuing authority shall consider only the transferee’s


		(a) mangement experience,


		(b) technical expertise,


		(c) financial capability, and


		(d) legal ability


	to operate a cable system under the existing license.


(2) As part of an issuing authority’s review of an application for a transfer or assignment of a license or control thereof, an issuing authority shall not propose amendments to or renegotiate the terms of the existing license or any license renewal proposal. 


[It should be noted that, as laid out in the C.M.R. and adoption of this rule and shown above, “to operate a cable system under the existing license” refers to all criteria.  Quotation without reflecting the layout can make it appear as though this phrase modifies only “legal ability.”]


� In The Matter of Implementation of Sections 11 and 13 of the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, MM Docket No. 92-264, Memorandum Opinion and Order on Reconsideration of The First Report and Order, 10 FCC Rcd 4654 Jan. 12, 1995) at 23 (¶52); see id. at 25 (¶55).


�/See id.  ¶ 55 & nn. 115, 117 (1995) (Form 394 based on information required for broadcast and CARS licenses);  In the Matter of Implementation of Sections 11 and 13 of the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 8 FCC Rcd 6828, ¶ 85 (1993).


� Section 15.6 of the License provides:


  The Licensee warrants, represents and acknowledges that, as of the Execution Date of the Renewal License:	  


The Licensee is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State;


The Licensee has the requisite power and authority under applicable law and its by-laws and articles of incorporation and/or other organizational documents, is authorized by resolutions of its Board of Directors or other governing body, and has secured all consents which are required to be obtained as of the Execution Date of the Renewal License, to enter into and legally bind the Licensee to the Renewal License and to take all actions necessary to perform all of its obligations pursuant to the Renewal License;


The Renewal License is enforceable against the Licensee in accordance with the provisions herein, subject to applicable State and federal law;


There is no action or proceedings pending or threatened against the Licensee which would interfere with its performance of the Renewal License;


None of the officers, directors or managers of the Licensee have any relation or interest in any local broadcast station or telephone company that would be in violation of Section 613 of the Cable Act; and


Pursuant to Section 625 {f} of the Cable Act, the performance of all terms and conditions in the Renewal License is commercially practicable.


� In the Matter of Policy Regarding Character Qualifications in Broadcast Licensing Amendment of Rules of Broadcast Practice and Procedure Relating to Written Responses to Commission Inquiries and the Making of Misrepresentations to the Commission by Permittees and Licensees, Report, Order and Policy Statement, 102 F.C.C.2d 1179, ¶¶ 21, 23 (1986) (subsequent history omitted).


� Exhibit 10 to Form 394; Public Hearing Tr. at 24-25 (Exhibit D); Public Interest Statement attached to May 16, 2002 letter response (Exhibit A-IV-2). 


� 15 U.S.C. §18a(e)(2). “Consummating a merger or acquisition, or taking steps to integrate the companies before the end of the waiting period is a serious concern.”  Joseph G. Krauss, FTC Assistant Director, Premerger Notification Office, “New Developments in the Premerger Notification Program,” prepared remarks to District of Columbia Bar (October 7, 1998), available at www.ftc.gov/os/1998/9810/dcbar.htm.


� FCC approval is involved because it must approve the transfer of control of FCC licenses, such as CARS or business radio licenses, not because the FCC must approve the merger as such. 
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